Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-14-2017

State v. Castrejon Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44783

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

The state appeals from the district court's order reducing felony battery on a law enforcement officer charges to misdemeanors and remanding them to the magistrate division.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

In an encounter with police, Cesar Gabriel Castrejon head-butted Gooding police officer Christopher Knott and repeatedly kicked the knee of Gooding County deputy sheriff Sabrina Becker. (P.H. Tr., p. 4, L. 13 – p. 12, L. 18; p. 15, L. 5 – p. 20, L. 8.) The state charged Castrejon with two felony counts of battery on a law enforcement officer. (R., pp. 24-25.) Count One charged that Castrejon "did actually, intentionally, and unlawfully, touch and/or strike the person of Officer Chris Knott, against his will by striking him in the face." (R., p. 25.) Count Two charged that Castrejon "did actually, intentionally, and unlawfully, touch and/or strike the person of Deputy Sabrina Becker against her will by kicking her multiple times in her knee." (R., p. 25.)

Castrejon and the state entered a plea agreement whereby Castrejon would plead guilty to Count One of the information. (R., pp. 37-40.) At the change of plea hearing the district court, on its own initiative, questioned whether the language in the information was sufficient to charge a felony, as opposed to a misdemeanor. (01/17/17 Tr., p. 3, Ls. 7-21.) The prosecutor represented that the inclusion of the misdemeanor language was in the nature of a "clerical error" that he had intended to address before trial, and that he had called defense

counsel's attention to it in the plea negotiations. (01/17/17 Tr., p. 3, L. 22 – p. 4, L. 9.) Castrejon's counsel represented that he was aware that "unlawful touching is a misdemeanor," but that the defense concluded that the "and/or made it quite fine" and elected to proceed with the plea agreement because the "Appellate Court would probably say it was sufficient" even though there is "misdemeanor language in it." (01/17/17 Tr., p. 4, Ls. 11-23.) The district court, however, concluded that both touching and striking were misdemeanors, and therefore the court lacked "jurisdiction over a felony offense." (01/17/17 Tr., p. 7, L. 19 – p. 8, L. 2.) Therefore, the district court ordered the case remanded to the magistrate division. (01/17/17 Tr., p. 8, Ls. 2-3; R., p. 42.)

The state filed a notice of appeal timely from the order of remand. (R., pp. 44-46.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court erroneously conclude the information charged only misdemeanors?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred Because The Information Charged Felonies For Striking A Police Officer

A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court held:

Given the way that Counts I and II are charged as unlawful touching and/or striking, I find that that is the language that is excepted out in subsection (3) of 18-915, so I do not believe that the Court has jurisdiction over a felony offense, so I'm going to remand this matter back to magistrate court for further proceedings.

(01/17/17 Tr., p. 7, L. 22 - p. 8, L. 3.) The flaw in the district court's reasoning is that, although battery on a law enforcement officer by "touching" is a misdemeanor, battery on a law enforcement officer by "striking" is a felony. The information therefore charged both a felony and a misdemeanor, and the district court erred by ordering the case remanded to the magistrate division.

B. Standard Of Review

The interpretation and construction of a statute present questions of law over which the appellate court exercises free review. <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 140 Idaho 796, 798, 102 P.3d 1115, 1117 (2004); <u>State v. Dorn</u>, 140 Idaho 404, 405, 94 P.3d 709, 710 (Ct. App. 2004).

¹ The prosecutor argued the misdemeanor "touching" was an included offense of the felony "striking." (01/17/17 Tr., p. 5, Ls. 11-23.)

C. <u>The Plain Language Of The Statute Provides That Striking A Police Officer Is A Felony</u>

"When interpreting statutes we begin with the literal words of the statute, which are the best guide to determining legislative intent." Leavitt v. Craven, 154 Idaho 661, 667, 302 P.3d 1, 7 (2012) (internal quotes, brackets and citation omitted). If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, "legislative history and other extrinsic evidence should not be consulted for the purpose of altering the clearly expressed intent of the legislature." Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Regional Medical Center, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d 502, 506 (2011). Review of the plain language of I.C. §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903 shows that striking an officer is a felony.

Under the plain language of the applicable statute, there are five actions that can constitute battery (force, violence, touching, striking, or causing bodily harm), all separated by the disjunctive "or":

Battery defined. A battery is any:

- (a) Willful and unlawful use of *force* or *violence* upon the person of another; or
- (b) Actual, intentional and unlawful *touching* or *striking* of another person against the will of the other; or
- (c) Unlawfully and intentionally causing bodily harm to an individual.

I.C. § 18-903 (italics and underlining added).² Any battery under this definition, "except unlawful touching as described in section 18-903(b), Idaho Code,"

5

² A violation of I.C. § 18-903 alone is a misdemeanor punishable by up to six months in jail and a fine of up to \$1000. I.C. § 18-904. Because the victims in this case were police officers, punishment would be doubled. I.C. § 18-915(1)(b).

committed on a peace officer under certain conditions is a felony. I.C. § 18-915(3). Because all five acts that constitute battery are set forth with the disjunctive "or," and because only "touching" is excluded from the felony battery on a peace officer statute, using force, using violence, striking, or causing bodily harm are all batteries that qualify as felonies under I.C. § 18-915(3).

The information charged Castrejon with battery by both touching "and/or" striking the officer victims. (R., p. 25.) As set forth above, committing a battery on a law enforcement officer by "touching" him or her is not a felony under I.C. § 18-915(3), but committing a battery by "striking" an officer is such a felony. Because Castrejon was charged with striking the victim officers, he was charged with a felony.

The district court concluded that both touching and striking were excluded from the felony provisions of I.C. § 18-915(3). (01/17/17 Tr., p. 7, L. 22 – p. 8, L. 2.) The statute, however, exempts only "unlawful touching as described in section 18-903(b)" and does not exempt any other manner of committing a battery, including striking. I.C. § 18-915(3). Because the plain language of the statute exempts only touching, but does not exempt force, violence, striking or causing bodily harm, the district court misread and misapplied the statute.

The state charged felonies when it charged Castrejon with striking two police officers. The district court's conclusion that striking a police officer is not a felony, but only a misdemeanor, is contrary to the plain language of the applicable statute and therefore error. The district court committed reversible error in its order remanding the charges to the magistrate division.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to reverse the district court's order remanding the case to the magistrate division and remand for entry of the plea or other proceedings.