Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-12-2017

State v. Castrejon Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44783

Nature of the Case
Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings 1
ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL
ARGUMENT 6
A. Introduction
B. Standard Of Review
C. The State Did Not Preserve Its Argument On Appeal
 D. The Invited Error Doctrine Precludes The State From Raising Its Argument On Appeal
E. The District Court's Interpretation Of The Statutes Was Correct
CONCLUSION11
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Clear Springs Foods, Inc. v. Spackman, 150 Idaho 790 (2011)7
Heckman Ranches, Inc. v. State, By & Through Dep't of Pub. Lands, 99 Idaho 793 (1979)8
Mickelsen Constr., Inc., v. Horrocks, 154 Idaho 396 (2013)
Nelson v. Nelson, 144 Idaho 710 (2007)7
North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970)
<i>State v. Armstrong</i> , 158 Idaho 364 (Ct. App. 2015)
<i>State v. Dunlap</i> , 155 Idaho 345 (2013)
<i>State v. Frederick</i> , 149 Idaho 509 (2010)
<i>State v. Higgins</i> , 122 Idaho 590 (1992)
<i>State v. Johnson</i> , 148 Idaho 664 (2010)7, 9
<i>State v. Jones</i> , 140 Idaho 755 (2004)6
<i>State v. Owsley</i> , 105 Idaho 836 (1983)9
<i>State v. Schwartz</i> , 139 Idaho 360 (2003)10
<i>State v. Thiel</i> , 158 Idaho 103 (2015)10
State v. Vondenkamp, 141 Idaho 878 (Ct. App. 2005)
<i>State v. Wheaton</i> , 121 Idaho 404 (1992)
Verska v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr., 151 Idaho 889 (2011)10, 11

Statutes

I.C. § 18-903(b)	
	*
I.C. § 18-915(3)	passim

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The State charged Cesar Gabriel Castrejon with two counts of battery on a police/peace officer, or sheriff. At Mr. Castrejon's change of plea hearing, the district court remanded the case to the magistrate court for lack of jurisdiction, because the Information only charged misdemeanors. The State appeals from the district court's Order for Remand, and argues the district court erred in remanding the case because the Information, under the plain language of the relevant statutes, charged Mr. Castrejon with felonies.

The State has failed to show the district court erred. The State did not preserve for appeal its argument that the Information charged Mr. Castrejon with felonies because striking an officer is a felony under the plain language of the relevant statutes, as that argument was not presented to the district court. Even if the State's argument on appeal were preserved, the invited error doctrine precludes the State from raising that argument, because the State agreed with the district court's interpretation of the statutes. Further, even if the State's argument on appeal were not precluded by the invited error doctrine, the district court's interpretation of the statutes was correct.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

The State charged Mr. Castrejon by Information with two counts of battery on a police/peace officer, or sheriff, "Felony, Idaho Code §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903."¹ (R., pp.23-25.)

¹ Section 18-915(3) provides:

For committing a violation of the provisions of section 18-903, Idaho Code, except unlawful touching as described in section 18-903(b), Idaho Code, against the person of a former or present peace officer, sheriff or police officer:

Specifically, Count I of the Information alleged Mr. Castrejon "did actually, intentionally, and unlawfully, touch and/or strike the person of Officer Chris Knott, against his will be striking him in the face" (R., p.24.) Count II of the Information alleged Mr. Castrejon "did actually, intentionally, and unlawfully, touch and/or strike the person of Deputy Sabrina Becker against her will be kicking her multiple times in her knee" (R., p.24.) Mr. Castrejon entered a not guilty plea to the charges. (R., p.26.)

The parties later entered into a plea agreement, where Mr. Castrejon agreed to enter an *Alford* plea² to Count I of the Information. (R., pp.37-40.) However, at the change of plea hearing, the district court asked, "I have a question for both counsel, because in reviewing the Information in this matter, the defendant in both counts is charged with actually, intentionally, and unlawfully touching and/or striking the officer, and the question I have is why is that not a misdemeanor offense?" (Tr., p.3, Ls.15-21.)

The State answered, "that was a—basically, I suppose, what could be called a clerical error in the Information." (Tr., p.3, Ls.22-24.) The State told the district court it had discussed the issue with defense counsel. (Tr., p.4, Ls.2-9.)

(a) Because of the exercise of official duty or because of the victim's former or present official status; or

(b) While the victim is engaged in the performance of his duties and the person committing the offense knows or reasonably should know that such victim is a peace officer, sheriff or police officer;

the offense shall be a felony punishable by imprisonment in a correctional facility for a period of not more than five (5) years, and said sentence shall be served consecutively to any sentence being currently served.

Section 18-903 defines "battery" as any "(a) Willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another," or "(b) Actual, intentional and unlawful touching or striking of another person against the will of the other," or "(c) Unlawfully and intentionally causing bodily harm to an individual."

² See North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

Mr. Castrejon's counsel stated, "I brought it to Mr. Pember's attention. He told me he was happy with the language and wanted to proceed. I pointed out that unlawful touching is a misdemeanor aspect, and he believed that the and/or made it quite fine" (Tr., p.4, Ls.11-15.) Mr. Pember was another State prosecutor. (*See* R., pp.33, 36.) Mr. Castrejon's counsel also stated he had previously said, "Well, we would enter a guilty plea to the unlawful touching, but with the amendment,' and I've talked to my client about it, I said that—'the facts and the headings, I think you and the Appellate Court would probably say it was sufficient,' but it definitely has the misdemeanor language in it." (Tr., p.4, Ls.16-23.)

The district court then discussed the language of I.C. §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903(b), and asked the State, "[s]o whether you touch or strike, why isn't that a misdemeanor offense?" (Tr., p.4, L.24 – p.5, L.10.) The State contended it "would have a very strong argument that more than touching was done" (Tr., p.5, Ls.11-14.) The district court replied, "[w]ell, I understand that, but the Information as charged is charged—I think, under reading—the plain reading of the statute is charged as a misdemeanor and not as a felony." (Tr., p.5, Ls.15-18.) The State responded that "the misdemeanor could be possibly argued as a lesser included with the way the language is with that and/or language in there." (Tr., p.5, Ls.19-23.) The State clarified the "and/or" language came from the Information. (Tr., p.5, L.24 – p.6, L.1.)

The district court inquired, "why isn't striking the same as touching?" (Tr., p.6, Ls.2-5.) The State argued "striking would be force with perhaps an intent to cause injury," but acknowledged "maybe that's not necessarily in the statute" (Tr., p.6, Ls.6-12.) The district court turned back to the language of I.C. § 18-903: "subsection (a) charges a battery as force or violence. Subsection (2) is touching—unlawful touching or striking. Subsection (3) is causing bodily injury." (Tr., p.6, Ls.13-17.)

The district court asked the State: "So isn't subsection (2) the language that the legislature has excepted out as far as the felony's concerned?" (Tr., p.6, Ls.17-19.) The State answered, "[w]ell, I think I would have to agree with the Court there that, yes, that is the case, but, as I mentioned, the language in our Information was a clerical—obviously, not one without impact, but it was a clerical error." (Tr., p.6, Ls.20-24.)

Mr. Castrejon's counsel indicated his prior argument to Mr. Pember was in line with the district court's thoughts. (*See* Tr., p.7, Ls.3-13.) When the district court offered the last word, the State replied, "No, Your Honor. I'd just leave it to the Court." (Tr., p.7, Ls.16-18.) The district court then ruled, sua sponte, "[g]iven the way that Counts I and II are charged as unlawful touching and/or striking, I find that that is the language that is excepted out in subsection (3) in 18-915, so I do not believe that the Court has jurisdiction over a felony offense, so I'm going to remand this matter back to magistrate court for further proceedings." (Tr., p.7, L.22 – p.8, L.3.) The district court entered an Order for Remand, which remanded the case "back to the magistrate court for lack of jurisdiction. The offenses, as charged, are misdemeanor offenses." (R., pp.42-43.)

The State filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Order for Remand. (R., pp.44-47.)

<u>ISSUE</u>

Has the State failed to show the district court erred in remanding Mr. Castrejon's case to the magistrate court for lack of jurisdiction?

ARGUMENT

The State Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred In Remanding Mr. Castrejon's Case To The Magistrate Court For Lack Of Jurisdiction

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Mr. Castrejon asserts the State has failed to show the district court erred in remanding his case to the magistrate court for lack of jurisdiction. As a threshold matter, the State did not preserve for appeal its argument that the Information charged Mr. Castrejon with felonies because striking an officer is a felony under the plain language of I.C. §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903, as that argument was not presented to the district court. Even if the State's argument on appeal were preserved, the invited error doctrine precludes the State from raising that argument, because the State agreed with the district court's interpretation of the statutes. Further, even if the State's argument on appeal were not precluded by the invited error doctrine, the district court's interpretation of the statutes was correct. Thus, the district court correctly concluded the Information charged only misdemeanors. The State has failed to show the district court erred.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"Whether a court lacks jurisdiction is a question of law that may be raised at any time, and over which appellate courts exercise free review." *State v. Jones*, 140 Idaho 755, 757 (2004) (citation omitted).

C. <u>The State Did Not Preserve Its Argument On Appeal</u>

As a threshold matter, the State did not preserve for appeal the argument that the Information charged Mr. Castrejon with felonies because striking an officer is a felony under the plain language of I.C. §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903, as that argument was not presented to the district court.

Under certain circumstances, "a violation of the provisions of section 18-903, Idaho Code, except unlawful touching as described in section 18-903(b), Idaho Code, against the person of a former or present police officer, sheriff, or police officer" is a felony. I.C. § 18-915(3). Section 18-903 defines battery to include any "[a]ctual, intentional and unlawful touching or striking of another person against the will of the other." I.C. § 18-903(b).

The State asserts, "although battery on a law enforcement officer by 'touching' is a misdemeanor, battery on a law enforcement officer by 'striking' is a felony. The information therefore charged both a felony and a misdemeanor, and the district court erred by ordering the case remanded to the magistrate division." (App. Br., p.4.) According to the State, "[r]eview of the plain language of I.C. § 18-915(3) and 18-903 shows that striking an officer is a felony." (App. Br., p.5.)

However, the State did not preserve the above plain language argument for appeal, because it did not present that argument to the district court. The Idaho Supreme Court has held, "[t]his Court will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal." *Mickelsen Constr., Inc., v. Horrocks,* 154 Idaho 396, 405 (2013) (quoting *Clear Springs Foods, Inc. v. Spackman,* 150 Idaho 790, 812 (2011)) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court has also held that "[a]ppellate court review is limited to the evidence, theories and arguments that were presented below." *State v. Johnson,* 148 Idaho 664, 670 (2010) (quoting *Nelson v. Nelson,* 144 Idaho 710, 714 (2007)) (internal quotation marks omitted). According to the Court, "[i]ssues not raised below will not be considered by this court on appeal, and the parties will be held to the theory

upon which the case was presented to the lower court." *Heckman Ranches, Inc. v. State, By & Through Dep't of Pub. Lands*, 99 Idaho 793, 799-800 (1979).

Here, the State did not argue before the district court that the plain language of I.C. §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903 provided that striking a police officer is a felony. (*See generally* Tr., pp.3-9.) Rather, the State contended that "the misdemeanor could be possibly argued as a lesser included with the way the language is with that and/or language in there." (Tr., p.5, Ls.19-23; *see* App. Br., p.4 n.1.) That contention before the district court on the wording of the Information (*see* Tr., p.5, L.24 – p.6, L.1), did not preserve the State's argument on appeal regarding the plain language of the statutes, because "[a]n objection on one ground will not preserve for appeal a separate and different basis for objection not raised before the trial court." *See State v. Armstrong*, 158 Idaho 364, 367-68 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *State v. Frederick*, 149 Idaho 509, 513 (2010); *State v. Higgins*, 122 Idaho 590, 597 (1992); *State v. Wheaton*, 121 Idaho 404, 406-07 (1992); *State v. Vondenkamp*, 141 Idaho 878, 885 (Ct. App. 2005)). The State's current plain language argument is nowhere to be found in the State's arguments before the district court.

The State's argument on appeal "was not raised before the district court, thereby depriving the district court of an opportunity to address the argument in the first instance and rule accordingly." *See id.* at 368. The State did not make the specific argument regarding the plain language of the statutes to the district court, and the State may not argue on appeal the district court's decision was in error based on an argument that was never presented to the district court for consideration. *See id.* The State should "be held to the theory upon which the case was presented to the lower court." *See Heckman Ranches*, 99 Idaho at 799-800. In sum, because the

State did not present the plain language argument to the district court, its argument was not preserved for appeal. *See Mickelsen Constr.*, 154 Idaho at 405; *Johnson*, 148 Idaho at 670.

D. The Invited Error Doctrine Precludes The State From Raising Its Argument On Appeal

Even if the State's plain language argument were preserved, the invited error doctrine precludes the State from raising that argument on appeal, because the State agreed with the district court's interpretation of the statutes.

Under the invited error doctrine, "[i]t has long been the law in Idaho that one may not successfully complain of errors one has acquiesced in or invited. Errors consented to, acquiesced in, or invited are not reversible." *State v. Dunlap*, 155 Idaho 345, 379 (2013) (quoting *State v. Owsley*, 105 Idaho 836, 838 (1983)) (citation omitted).

Here, the State agreed with the district court's interpretation of the statutes. During the hearing, the district court went over the subsections of I.C. § 18-903, stating "[s]ubsection (2) is touching—unlawful touching or striking."³ (Tr., p.6, Ls.13-17.) The district court asked the State, "[s]o isn't subsection (2) the language that the legislature has excepted out as far as the felony's concerned?" (Tr., p.6, Ls.17-19.) The State then replied, "[w]ell, I think I would have to agree with the Court there that, yes, that is the case, but, as I mentioned, the language in our Information was a clerical—obviously, not one without impact, but it was a clerical error." (Tr., p.6, Ls.20-24.) Further, when the district court offered the last word, the State only responded, "No, Your Honor. I'd just leave it to the Court." (Tr., p.7, Ls.16-18.) Thus, the State agreed with the district court's interpretation of the statutes.

³ The district court's references to "subsection (2)" clearly concerned subsection (b) of I.C. § 18-903. (*See* Tr., p.5, Ls.7-8, p.6, Ls.13-19.)

By agreeing with the district court's interpretation of the statutes, the State, at the least, acquiesced in the district court's decision to remand the case for lack of jurisdiction because the Information only charged misdemeanors. *See Dunlap*, 155 Idaho at 379. Because the State acquiesced in the district court's decision, it cannot now successfully complain that decision was in error. *See id.* The invited error doctrine precludes the State from raising its argument on appeal, because the State agreed with the district court's interpretation of the statutes.

E. <u>The District Court's Interpretation Of The Statutes Was Correct</u>

Even if the State's argument on appeal were not precluded by the invited error doctrine, the district court's interpretation of the statutes, I.C. §§ 18-915(3) and 18-903, was correct. Based on the plain language of the statutes, the district court did not have jurisdiction because the Information only charged misdemeanors.

An appellate court exercises free review over questions of statutory interpretation and application. *State v. Thiel*, 158 Idaho 103, 106 (2015). The Idaho Supreme Court has held, "[t]he interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole. If the statute is not ambiguous, this Court does not construe it, but simply follows the law as written." *Verska v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 893 (2011) (quoting *State v. Schwartz*, 139 Idaho 360, 362 (2003)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

As discussed above, under certain circumstances, "a violation of the provisions of section 18-903, Idaho Code, except unlawful touching as described in section 18-903(b), Idaho Code, against the person of a former or present police officer, sheriff, or police officer," is a felony. I.C. § 18-915(3). Section 18-903(b) defines battery to include any "[a]ctual, intentional and unlawful touching or striking of another person against the will of the other." I.C. § 18-903(b).

Based on the plain language of the statutes, the district court did not have jurisdiction because the Information only charged misdemeanors. Section 18-915(3) excepts "unlawful touching as described in section 18-903(b), Idaho Code," from those acts that constitute felony battery on an officer. I.C. § 18-915(3). Thus, acts as described in section 18-903(b), namely, "[a]ctual, intentional and unlawful touching or striking of another person against the will of the other," are misdemeanors even if otherwise committed against an officer under the circumstances outlined in Section 18-915(3). *See* I.C. §§ 18-903(b); 18-915(3). As the district court and State agreed (*see* Tr., p.6, Ls.13-24), the plain language of the statutes excepted unlawful touching or striking from felony status. *See Verska*, 151 Idaho at 893. The district court's interpretation of the statutes was correct, and the district court did not have jurisdiction because the Information only charged misdemeanors. The State has failed to show the district court erred.

CONCLUSION

The State has failed to show the district court erred in remanding Mr. Castrejon's case to the magistrate court for lack of jurisdiction. Mr. Castrejon respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's Order for Remand.